Brief of Appellant

Filed 06-02-2020 Page 1 of 29

RECEIVED 06-02-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP000605-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM C. MACDONALD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Amended Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying In Part Defendant's Postconviction Motion, Entered in the Marquette County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark T. Slate, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

ISSUES PRESENTED

William C. MacDonald was charged with 10 counts of possession of child pornography and pled no contest to a single count. At sentencing, the court imposed a \$50,000 child pornography surcharge.

1. Whether Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) authorized the circuit court to order Mr. MacDonald to pay a \$50,000 child pornography surcharge related to Mr. MacDonald's single conviction?

The circuit court concluded that Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) authorized the surcharge imposed and denied Mr. MacDonald's postconviction motion to reduce the surcharge from \$50,000 to \$500.

2. Whether the \$50,000 surcharge assessed against Mr. MacDonald, if authorized by Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), is unconstitutionally excessive under the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause?

The circuit court concluded that the \$50,000 surcharge was not unconstitutionally excessive and, MacDonald's noted above. denied Mr. as postconviction motion.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues presented involve the interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) and the application of the Eight Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause to the \$50,000 surcharge imposed by the circuit court. No published or unpublished decision has yet interpreted Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) or applied the Excessive Fines Clause to a surcharge assessed under this statute. Further, Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) is applicable every time someone is convicted under Wis. Stats. §§ 948.05 (sexual exploitation of a child) or 948.12 (possession of child pornography). Therefore, publication would appear to be necessary and appropriate under Wis. Stats. §§ (Rules) 809.23(1)(a)1. and 5.1

For the same reasons, Mr. MacDonald would welcome the opportunity for oral argument.

¹ It should be noted that the interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) is an issue raised in *State v. Keuhn*, No. 2018AP002355 (submitted on briefs on November 5, 2019, and currently awaiting decision from District I of the Court of Appeals). However, that case concerns a \$5,000 surcharge assessed for 10 images and does not address the Excessive Fines Clause's application to Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2). (*See* State's Resp. Br. at 26, n.8 (admitting that *had* the circuit court imposed a surcharge for the 462 images allegedly possessed by Keuhn, then "the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause might well limit a court's authority to impose a surcharge for each image."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state charged William C. MacDonald with 10 counts of possession of child pornography, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m)(7). With respect to each count, the state invoked Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), which directs the circuit court, [i]f a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a crime under s. 948.05 or 948.12," to impose a \$500 child pornography surcharge for each image "associated with the crime." (7:1-5).

Shortly thereafter, Mr. MacDonald pled no contest to count one. (19). Pursuant to the plea agreement, the state agreed to dismiss and read-in counts two through ten and any "uncharged" offenses related to the investigation initiated into Mr. MacDonald. (51:2, 4-6, 10).

The Presentence Investigation ordered by the court set forth the following facts relevant here. The PSI writer explained that "[b]y all accounts, Mr. MacDonald's first few years on earth could only be described as a nightmare." (16:32). While the writer noted "the extent of abuse suffered by Mr. MacDonald by his biological mother and/or others" is unknown, Mr. MacDonald's adoptive mother. Mrs. MacDonald. noted Mr. MacDonald's was "one of the worst cases of abuse that Dodge County had at the time." (16:16). Mrs. MacDonald also noted that when she adopted Mr. MacDonald at the age of two years, he had "cigarette burns all over his body and other signs of physical abuse" and that doctors "weren't able to definitively state whether or not sexual abuse had

occurred." (16:16). Mrs. MacDonald noted that Mr. MacDonald was "not able to walk on his own" at the time, "had a seizure disorder, some learning disabilities, an abnormal frontal lobe, and was in Special Education classes until he was in 2nd grade," when the family began homeschooling Mr. MacDonald. (16:16).

The PSI also noted that Mr. MacDonald had no prior criminal or juvenile record and that he was working at Family Dollar at the time of his arrest. Financially, the PSI(16:10.19). noted that Mr. MacDonald admitted to receiving some financial assistance "to help him get caught up on bills," but that he had never received food stamps or medical assistance." (16:20). Further, the PSI noted that Mr. MacDonald owed \$1,200 to his former landlord, \$8,000-10,000 on a car loan, that he had outstanding student loans, and that the IRS had recently notified him that they would be garnishing 15% of his income. (16:20-21).² The PSI recommended the mandatory minimum term of initial confinement (three years) and two to three years extended supervision. (16:33).

At sentencing, the state recommended a sentence of seven years imprisonment consisting of four years initial confinement and three years extended supervision. (48:3).

Further, the state asked the court to "make a finding" regarding the "number of images" and

 $^{^2}$ Further, Mr. MacDonald qualified for public defender representation based on indigency at the trial level and on appeal.

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 11 of 29

specifically requested that the court "make a finding of 100 at \$500 an image." (48:6-7). The court went along with the state's sentencing recommendation and imposed a sentence of seven years imprisonment and a \$50,000 child pornography surcharge. (48:13-14). With regard to the child pornography surcharge, the court stated the following:

The Court also has to be concerned about the surcharge with regard to the number of images. While the defense counsel has argued that I should find a limited number based upon the ability of the defendant to pay any amount that the Court might impose in this charge. It is the Court's opinion that is not a consideration that the Court should be involved with. I need to be involved with making a determination of exactly how many images this particular defendant was involved with. It was mentioned by the district attorney, and I note that it did come out in my review of the case, that at certain times, he acknowledged that there may be up to 200 images. The Court does find, given the concern that I have with regard to my responsibility and also the history in this case, that at least 100 images were involved, and the Court is going to accept that number, in terms of the number that the surcharge applies to. I recognize that the \$50,000 calculation that comes to does put Mr. MacDonald in a very difficult position, in terms of ever paying that off, but that is the Court's opinion, but quite frankly, that is the minimum number of images, I think, that

Page 12 of 29

Mr. Macdonald dealt with. I find that to be appropriate under the directive of the legislature.

(48:14-15; App. 104-05).

After sentencing, Mr. MacDonald filed a postconviction reduce the child motion to pornography surcharge from \$50,000 to \$500. (30). Mr. MacDonald argued that Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) authorized only a single \$500 surcharge in his case because only one image was "associated with the crime" for which sentence was imposed. (30:4-5). Further, Mr. MacDonald argued that, if the court were to conclude that Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) did authorize a \$50,000 child pornography surcharge related to his single conviction, then the surcharge was an unconstitutional fine under the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause. (30:5-6).

The court held a hearing on Mr. MacDonald's postconviction motion and denied his request to reduce the child pornography surcharge from \$50,000 to \$500. (55). The court concluded that Wis. Stat. \S 973.042(2) authorized the \$50,000 surcharge and that \$50,000 was not unconstitutionally excessive. (55:5-7; 39; App. 101-02, 106).³

This appeal follows.

³ The court granted the portion of Mr. MacDonald's motion in which he requested modification of his judgment of conviction and sentence to grant eligibility for the Wisconsin Substance Abuse Program and the Challenge Incarceration Program. (30; 40; 55; App. 101-02, 106).

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 13 of 29

ARGUMENT

At issue is the unlawful \$50,000 pornography surcharge imposed by the circuit court contrary to Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) and in violation of the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause. Because Mr. MacDonald possessed a single image of child pornography "associated with the crime" for which he was convicted and sentenced and because the \$50,000 surcharge assessed against him is "grossly disproportionate to Mr. MacDonald's] offense." this Court must reverse the circuit court's denying Mr. MacDonald's postconviction motion and order the circuit court to reduce the surcharge from \$50,000 to \$500.

I. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.042(2) authorized the circuit court to impose a single \$500 child pornography surcharge against Mr. MacDonald.

A. Introduction and the standard of review.

This case concerns the interpretation and application of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.042(2) and 948.12(1m). Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statue and if the meaning is plain, a reviewing court ordinarily stops its inquiry. State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 107, ¶28, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). Courts interpret statutory language in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 14 of 29

surrounding or closely-related statutes. *Id.* The interpretation and application of a statute presents a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Friedlander*, 2019 WI 22, ¶22, 385 Wis. 2d 633, 923 N.W.2d 849.

B. Wisconsin Stats. §§ 973.042(2) and 948.12.

The child pornography surcharge statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), provides that "[i]f a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a crime under s. 948.05 or 948.12 ... the court shall impose a child pornography surcharge of \$500 for each image or copy of an image associated with the crime." Further, the subsection states that "[t]he court shall determine the number of images or copies of images associated with the crime by a preponderance of the evidence and without a jury." Wis. Stat. § 973.072(2).

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.042(2) clearly applies whenever a court imposes sentence on an adult convicted of possessing child pornography in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). The text is also clear that the court is required to determine, "by a preponderance of the evidence and without a jury" the number of images "associated with the crime and impose a \$500 surcharge based on the number of images "associated with the crime."

But Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) does not itself define the phrase "associated with the crime." Thus, in order to determine the plain meaning of the phrase "associated with the crime," as used in Wis. Stat.

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 15 of 29

§ 973.042, it is necessary to examine the "crime" at issue: Mr. MacDonald's possession of child pornography, in violation Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m).

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.12(1m) establishes the crime of possession of child pornography for anyone who "possesses, or accesses in any way with the intent to view, any ... recording of a child engaged in sexually explicit conduct." In terms of the unit of prosecution of alleged violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m), Wisconsin courts have long-held that the legislature intended for separate charges for each recording or image of child pornography a defendant possesses. State v. Multaler, 2002 WI 35, ¶67, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W. 2d 437. Thus, where a defendant is alleged to have possessed 10 images the state may charge 10 counts in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). If the state alleges the defendant possessed 100 images of child pornography, the state may charge 100 counts. In each case, whether 10 images and 10 counts or 100 images and 100 counts, each charge, and possible conviction, must be based and distinct image of child separate pornography. See State v. Multaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶¶56-59 (explaining that Multaler's 28 counts at issue were not identical in fact because each count represented a distinct and separate volitional act of downloading and possessing each image).

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 16 of 29

C. In this case, Mr. MacDonald possessed a single image of child pornography associated with his crime.

In this case, and in line with precedent interpreting Wis. Stat. § 948.12, the state prosecuted Mr. MacDonald based on the number of individual images he allegedly possessed. (7). Specifically, the state charged Mr. MacDonald with 10 violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). (7). Necessarily, those original 10 counts related to 10 separate images Mr. MacDonald allegedly possessed. Thus, when Mr. MacDonald pled no contest to count one only, Mr. MacDonald's conviction and sentence on that count is associated with a single image. Mr. MacDonald had been convicted of all 10 counts, then each of his crimes would have each been associated with one separate image of child pornography. Likewise, if the state had charged and convicted Mr. MacDonald of possessing 100 images of child pornography, then each count would be "associated with" a single image for a total of 100.

Further, this is not a case where the state chose to prosecute Mr. MacDonald for his total possession of child pornography in a single count or in multiple counts each based on a separate medium or device on which the images were stored. While the unit of prosecution intended by the legislature is one count per image or recording. seeMultaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶67, it is permissible for the state to choose to prosecute by a larger or more inclusive unit of prosecution. For example, the state could charge one count of possession of child pornography for each Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 17 of 29

disc or hard drive or device that contained relevant images. See Multaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶62 n.8 (citing State v. Whistleman, 2001 WI App 189, ¶1, 247 Wis. 2d 337, 633 N.W.2d 249 for the proposition that the medium on which child pornography is stored or viewed is not the "only" unit of permissible prosecution).

In such a case, if a defendant's conviction and sentence for the crime of possessing child pornography was factually and legally "associated with" multiple images or the total number of images on a specified medium, then Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) would require the court to find that the total number of images or recordings "associated with the crime" of conviction, that could include hundreds if not thousands of images even from a single conviction.

Here, however, Mr. MacDonald was charged with ten separate counts (ten images) and pled no contest to possessing one count (one image). While the state alleged that he possessed hundreds of images, (48:6-7), the crime Mr. MacDonald stands convicted of is possessing a single image associated with count one.

Moreover, the phrase "associated with the crime," which is neither defined by the statute itself nor has it been interpreted by any prior case, cannot be read to include Mr. MacDonald's entire "course of conduct" or all of the "crime[s] considered at sentencing." *See e.g.* Wis. Stats. §§ 973.155(1)(a) (the sentence credit statute) and 973.20(1g) (the criminal restitution statute).

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 18 of 29

The contrasting statutory frameworks utilized by the legislature in the sentence credit and criminal restitution contexts, which were both in existence and previously interpreted by multiple courts prior to the enactment of Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2),⁴ proves that the legislature understands how to write a more broadly encompassing framework that would have or could have included all of the "crimes" the state alleged Mr. MacDonald committed. See Schill v. Wisconsin Rapids Sch. Dist., 2010 WI 86, ¶103, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177 (citing Heritage Farms, Inc. v. Markel Ins. Co., 2009 WI 27, ¶40, 316 Wis. 2d 47, 762 N.W.2d 652 and State v. Rosenburg, 208 Wis. 2d 191, 198, 560 N.W.2d 266 (1997) for the principle that "[t]he legislature is presumed to be aware of existing laws and the courts' interpretations of those laws when it enacts a statute.") (Internal footnotes omitted).

The legislature is therefore at least presumed to be aware of other related statutes previously interpreted by our courts that utilize the phrase "course of conduct" as used in another statute with the "Sentencing" Chapter of the Wisconsin Statutes. The phrase "course of conduct for which sentence was imposed" has been used for decades in Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) and courts have long interpreted the phrase to cover "the specific offense or acts embodied in the charge for which the defendant is being sentenced." State v. Zahurones, 2019 WI App 57, ¶14,

⁴ Wis. Stat. § 973.042 was created pursuant to 2005 Wisconsin Act 433 § 26. Wis. Stat. § 973.155 was created in 1978 and Wis. Stat. § 973.20 was created 1988.

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 19 of 29

389 Wis. 2d 69, 934 N.W.2d 905 (citing State v. Tuescher, 226 Wis. 2d 465, 471-72, 595 N.W.2d 443 (Ct. App. 1999). The phrase "course of conduct" has even been interpreted to cover conduct that was "dismissed and read-in at sentencing." See State v. Floyd, 2000 WI 14, ¶2, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155 abrogated on other grounds by State v. Strazkowski, 2008 WI 65, 310 Wis. 2d 259, 750 N.W.2d 835 (holding that time spent in custody related to the course of conduct connected to read-in offenses falls within the phrase "course of conduct" as used in Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a)). If Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2) utilized the phrase "course of conduct for which sentence was imposed" rather than "associated with the crime," then the statute could be read to include all of the images the state alleged Mr. MacDonald possessed because that phrase would encompass Mr. MacDonald's full "course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." However, only one image is associated with Mr. MacDonald's crime for Seewhich sentence was imposed. Wis. Stat. § 973.042.

Second, the restitution statute, which also falls within Chapter 973, utilizes the phrase "crime considered at sentencing" to explicitly cover "any crime for which the defendant was convicted" and "any crime that is uncharged or that is dismissed as part of the plea agreement." Wis. Stats. § 973.20(1g)(a) and (b). Clearly, had the legislature utilized the phrase "crime considered at sentencing" or cross-referenced the restitution statute, the court would have been tasked with determining the number of images associated with any "crime

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 20 of 29

considered at sentencing," which would have included at least 100 images.

However, the legislature did no such thing in Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), and there is no such corollary statutory definition or precedent concerning the phrase "associated with the crime." Rather, the plain meaning of the phrase, as used in Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), simply covers any images "associated with the crime" of conviction and for which the defendant is sentenced.

While it is undisputed that at least 100 potential crimes were uncharged and that counts two through ten were dismissed pursuant to the plea agreement, this case concerns neither sentence credit nor restitution and the over-encompassing statutory language of "course of conduct" or "crime considered at sentencing" do not appear in Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2). As such, the state cannot rework, at sentencing or beyond, the unit of prosecution it proceeded with, and the court cannot read into the child pornography surcharge statute text that is not there simply because the state alleges that Mr. MacDonald was "involved with" more than one image. (48:8, 14; App. 104-05). Only one image, that image upon which the charge alleged in count one was based, is "associated with" Mr. MacDonald's crime. Any more expansive reading would ignore the statutory text and read into the text a more expansive meaning than set forth by the legislature.

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 21 of 29

II. If authorized by Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2), the \$50,000 child pornography surcharge imposed on Mr. MacDonald's single count of conviction is an unconstitutionally excessive fine imposed in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

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