FILED 08-10-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP605-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM C. MACDONALD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED IN THE MARQUETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK T. SLATE, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ERIC M. MUELLENBACH Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1104731

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Section 973.042(2) permitted the circuit court to assess a \$500 child pornography surcharge for both the dismissed and read-in counts, as well as uncharged and read-in images, because those images were "associated with the crime."

#### A. Standard of review.

Whether section 973.042(2) allowed the circuit court to assess a surcharge for each image related to both dismissed counts and uncharged images presents a question of statutory interpretation that this Court reviews independently. *State v. Hinkle*, 2019 WI 96, ¶14, 389 Wis. 2d 1, 935 N.W.2d 271.

#### B. Applicable legal principles.

"[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-10-2020 Page 11 of 28

N.W.2d 110. Thus, courts must avoid a construction that results in rendering statutory language superfluous.  $Meyer\ v$ .  $Meyer\$ , 2000 WI 132,  $\P$  22, 239 Wis. 2d 731, 620 N.W.2d 382. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633,  $\P$  45. The common, ordinary and accepted meaning can be ascertained from the dictionary definition. Id.  $\P$  53. Both a statute's context and the structure "in which [its] operative language appears" is important to its meaning. Id.  $\P$  46. "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.042(2) provides in relevant part, "If a court imposes a sentence . . . for a crime under . . . [s.] 948.12 . . . the court shall impose a child pornography surcharge of \$500 for each image or each copy of an image associated with the crime." The circuit court "shall determine the number of images or copies of images associated with the crime by a preponderance of the evidence and without a jury." *Id.* Section 973.042(1) defines an image to include "a video recording, a visual representation, a positive or negative image on exposed film, and data representing a visual image."

C. Section 973.042(2) authorized the circuit court to order a surcharge for each dismissed charge and each uncharged image associated with MacDonald's crime.

Section 973.042(2)'s plain language expressly contemplates that the aggregate surcharge will be based on the number of associated images, not convictions. This is clear in the first sentence of the subsection. By requiring a surcharge "for each image associated with the crime," the

Legislature expressly directed courts to assess the surcharge based on the total number of associated images, not convictions. The only issue is whether a particular image is "associated with the crime." Importantly, "crime" does not refer to just any crime under the code. Rather, it refers to the crimes referenced in section 973.042(2): sexual exploitation of a child (section 948.05) and possession of child pornography (section 948.12).

Section 973.042(2)'s second sentence confirms the interpretation that the surcharge assessment is based on images, not convictions. It requires the court to "determine the number of images" "associated with the crime by a preponderance of the evidence." *Id*. The crime MacDonald was convicted of was possession of child pornography under section 948.12. As MacDonald acknowledges (MacDonald's Br. 9), the Legislature intended that a separate charge under section 948.12 be levied for each distinct pornographic image possessed. State v. Multaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶ 64, 643 N.W.2d 437 (2002).<sup>2</sup> But, regardless of how the prosecutor charges a child pornography case, the fact is that section 973.042(2) does not limit the surcharge assessment to charged images or convictions. If the assessed surcharge were based on the number of convictions, there would be no reason for a court to conduct a hearing "to determine the number of images." MacDonald's suggestion that the court may only impose a surcharge for each conviction would render the second sentence of section 973.042(2) superfluous. See Meyer, 239 Wis. 2d 731, ¶ 22.

<sup>2</sup> At issue in *Multaler* was whether charging a defendant for each distinct image constituted a multiplicity violation. In both *Multaler* and in this case, however, the prosecutor's decision to charge possession of child pornography based on each distinct

image versus the medium the images are kept is irrelevant.

Had the Legislature intended to limit the court's authority to impose a surcharge on a per conviction basis as MacDonald advocates, it would have drafted section 973.042(2) differently. It would have tracked the language of other surcharge statutes in Chapter 973 that do direct circuit courts to assess a surcharge on a per conviction or per count basis.3 The Legislature's deliberate choice of different language when it drafted section 973.042(2) demonstrates that it did not intend to limit the court's authority to impose a surcharge on a per conviction basis. Instead, it intended to authorize courts to order surcharges based on the number of images "associated" with a defendant's conviction for possession ofchild pornography. For this reason, MacDonald's argument obviously fails. See Journal Sentinel v. City of Milwaukee, 2012 WI 65, ¶ 36, 341 Wis. 2d 607, 815 N.W.2d 367 ("[I]f the legislature had intended to accomplish what a party is urging on the court . . . the legislature knew how to draft the language and could have done so had it wished.")

Nonetheless, MacDonald contends that the surcharge only applies to multiple images when the State charges possession of child pornography based upon the medium on which it is stored rather than upon each image possessed. (MacDonald's Br. 10–11) He appears to have in mind a single CD or hard drive storing multiple images. There is no textual support for this argument in the statute itself, so he looks to

<sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 973.043(1) (drug offender diversion surcharge imposed "for each conviction"); Wis. Stat. § 973.045(1)(a) (victim/witness surcharge imposed for "each misdemeanor count on which a conviction occurred"); Wis. Stat. § 973.045(1)(b) (victim/witness surcharge imposed for "each felony count on which a conviction occurred"); Wis. Stat. § 973.0455(1) (crime prevention funding board surcharge calculated by "adding up, for each misdemeanor or felony count on which a conviction occurred"); and Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r)(a)–(b) (DNA surcharge imposed for "each conviction for a felony" and "each conviction for a misdemeanor").

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-10-2020 Page 14 of 28

unrelated statutes for support. He asserts that, if the Legislature had intended to allow a surcharge for dismissed but read-in counts and for uncharged but read-in images, it would have drafted the statute like the restitution statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.20, or like the sentence credit statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.155. (MacDonald's Br. 12–14.) This argument runs contrary to legislative intent.

As noted above, the Legislature intended that a separate charge under section 948.12 be levied for each distinct pornographic image possessed. So if, for example, a defendant had 10 CDs each storing 10 images, he would be charged with 100 counts (for each image) not 10 counts (for each CD). Section 948.12 was deliberately based on the images possessed, not the method used to store those images. Yet MacDonald argues that section 948.12 should be based on the storage method. But it is unreasonable to conclude that the Legislature intended the section 973.042 surcharge to apply to multiple images only in cases where the State charges possession of child pornography according to how the defendant stored his collection. Such a charging method runs contrary to the Legislature's intent in section 948.12. It is irrational to interpret section 973.042 in a way that directly conflicts with the legislative intent of section 948.12.

MacDonald's argument that the Legislature did not intend to include dismissed but read-in counts and uncharged but read-in images as evidenced by its decision not to draft the surcharge statute like section 973.20 or like section 973.155, also ignores legislative intent. Wisconsin's sentence credit statute, section 973.155, is intended to ensure that a person does not serve more time in custody than a lawfully imposed sentence allows. *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶ 31, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. Thus, credit is granted for each day in custody regardless of the basis for the confinement so long as it is connected to the "course of conduct" for which sentence was imposed. Wis. Stat.

§ 973.155(1)(a). Section 973.155 was narrowly crafted to accomplish that specific purpose. And, given the unique purpose of the statute, courts have been refining the phrase "in connection with the course of conduct" for years to flesh out exactly when an offense is sufficiently related to the course of conduct to justify credit.<sup>4</sup> Thus, the phrase has almost become a term of art associated solely with the sentence credit statute. As such, the Legislator's failure to utilize that phrase in the child pornography surcharge statute is not helpful in determining its intent with respect to that statute.

Under section 973.20, a court is required to order restitution for a "crime considered at sentencing." The primary purpose of section 973.20 is to compensate the victim for actual losses suffered as a result of the crime. State v. Gibson, 2012 WI App 103, ¶¶ 10–11, 344 Wis. 2d 220, 822 N.W.2d 500. The policy behind the restitution statute is that victims should not have to shoulder the losses caused by the crime if the defendant is capable of making restitution. State v. Wiskerchen, 2019 WI 1, ¶ 25, 385 Wis.2d 120, 921 N.W.2d 730. However, defendants are protected insofar as restitution awards must not exceed the damages or losses to the victim for which the defendant is actually responsible. See Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a) (the victim has the burden of proving the amount of loss she sustained as a result of a crime considered at sentencing.). Thus, the victim must show that the defendant's criminal activity was a "substantial factor in causing pecuniary injury to the victim." Gibson, 344 Wis. 2d 220, ¶ 11 (citation omitted). In other words, the restitution

 $^4$  See, e.g., State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶ 132, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516 (citation omitted) ('The sentence credit statute carries a heavy burden because it must be applied in an 'almost endless variety' of factual circumstances. As a result, courts have often determined that the statute is ambiguous as to specific facts.").

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-10-2020 Page 16 of 28

statute is intended to compensate only those victims that can show that they suffered pecuniary loss as a result of the defendant's crime. Consideration must then be given to, *interalia*, the defendant's financial resources and earning ability, which can justify reducing the amount of restitution owed by the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(a).

In contrast, the purpose of section 973.042 is to defray the State's costs of combating child pornography and treating sexual abuse victims. It is not intended to compensate actual victims because the victims of child pornography include both the children and society as a whole. New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 758 n.9 (1982) ("[T]he use of children as ... subjects of pornographic materials is very harmful to both the children and the society as a whole."). The market for child pornography is "intrinsically related" to the sexual abuse of children. United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 471 (2010). And, the harm caused by child pornography involves injury that is not readily ascertainable in pecuniary terms. Ferber, 458 U.S. at 758 ("[T]he use of children as subjects of pornographic materials is harmful to the physiological, emotional, and mental health of the child."). Thus, the goals of the restitution statute and the child pornography statute are fundamentally different.

And, unlike the restitution statute, the defendant's financial resources and ability to pay are not required considerations when imposing the child pornography surcharge. Instead, the surcharge is only limited by the number of images that are associated with the crime, i.e., how much harm the defendant has caused. As explained more fully on page nine of this argument, assessing the surcharge on each image associated with the crime reflects the increased costs associated with multiple images of child pornography. As the number of victims and incidents of harm increase, the investigation costs, as well as the cost for treating sexual assault, similarly increase.

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-10-2020 Page 17 of 28

Rather than focusing on language the Legislature chose not to use, it is helpful to analyze the language that the Legislature chose to include in the statute. As noted in footnote 3 above, the Legislature knew how to limit the child pornography surcharge to a per conviction or per count basis. chose not to. And, the Legislature could have tracked the language contained in the sentence credit or restitution statutes. Again, it chose not to. Instead, section 973.042 requires that the surcharge imposed on each image "associated" with the crime. Merriam-Webster defines "associated" "related, as. connected. combined together." Associated. or Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/associated (last visited Jul. 6, 2020). The choice of a word with this very broad definition makes clear that the Legislature intended that the surcharge be imposed regardless of whether the images were "connected to the course of conduct" (section 973.155) or read in at sentencing (section 973.20). The only requirement is that the images be "associated" with the crime of possession of child pornography or sexual exploitation of a child. Wis. Stat. § 973.042(2).

Here, the record demonstrates that the court ordered surcharges for the images associated with MacDonald's crime of possession of child pornography. MacDonald pleaded guilty to Count 1 of the information. (R. 40:1–2; 51:6.) Counts 2 through 10 were dismissed and read-in at sentencing. All the uncharged images that were seized as part of the criminal investigation were also read in. (R. 51:10.) At sentencing, the court determined that the images associated with the nine

dismissed counts and 89<sup>5</sup> uncharged images were associated with MacDonald's crime. (R. 48:14–15.)

The record supports the circuit court's determination that 100 images were associated with MacDonald's crime. Based on MacDonald's own admissions contained in the criminal complaint and the pre-sentence investigation report, the circuit court could reasonably determine that 100 images of child pornography were recovered while executing the June 2018 search warrant. Specifically, when officers asked MacDonald how many pornographic images containing children he possessed, MacDonald responded, "let's say 200 just to be safe." (R. 16:7; 7:5.) When officers asked how many of those images he had sent to others via the internet, MacDonald replied, "quite a bit honestly" adding, "maybe 120." (R. 16:7.) Moreover, a supplemental extraction report pertaining to just two of the nine phones seized from MacDonald noted that one phone contained 85 images consistent with child pornography and the other contained 15 such images. (R. 48:6.) The simultaneous storage of these images on a pair of devices that led to MacDonald's conviction certainly suffices as being "associated with" MacDonald's conviction for possession of child pornography.

The circuit court did not err when it ordered MacDonald to pay a \$500 surcharge for each image identified in the complaint and information, as well as the 89 uncharged images that were seized during the criminal investigation that constituted child pornography. The assessment of the surcharge on all 100 images is consistent with statutory intent.

<sup>5</sup> MacDonald does not dispute that there were "at least 100" uncharged images potentially consistent with child pornography. (MacDonald's Br. 14.)

Case 2020AP000605 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-10-2020 Page 19 of 28

# II. The child pornography surcharge does not violate the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment.

#### A. Standard of review.

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